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The breakwaters at Lewes reflect three stages of construction: the two-part
original breakwater, the connection between these two parts, and the outer break~-
water. All three breakwaters stand within the protective arm of Cape Henlopen, a
long sandspit that forms the entrance to Delaware Bay. Protected by land on the
west, the Cape on the south, and the two breakwaters on the east, the two harbors
provide protection for ships of all sizes.

The first portion of the breakwater, begun in 1828, consisted of a rubble-stone
icebreaker 1,700 feet long and a main breakwater 2,800 feet long. The fill is 160 feet
wide at the base. The material is Brandywine granite, quarried along the Delaware
River in New Castle County. The first lighthouse, completed in 1848, stood at the
northeast end of the original main breakwater.

A federal signal station and a private telegraph station once occupied sites
on the original breakwater.

The gap between the two original structures is filled by a similar stone
structure that was begun in 1883 and finished in 1897. The connection across the
gap differs from the original rubble breakwater in its squared-stone superstructure
and the wooden mat on which it rests.

A newer breakwater, called the "National Harbor of Refuge," is also built of
rubble stone, but the fill is more precisely arranged, permitting a steeper slope
to seaward.

The new structure stands 6,500 feet farther north, on a shoal known as the
Shears. Since it was built with steam derricks, its construction was more precise
than the first, which was constructed by rolling rocks off the sides of barges.
Dressed stones, some weighing 13 tons, were set in place on the superstructure.
The breakwater is 8,040 feet long at the low water line and 7,950 feet long at the
top.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Superlative adjectives have been used to describe the engineering feat repre-
sented by the breakwaters at Lewes. The recent Delaware HAER catalogue says that
the inner breakwater was "the first structure of its kind in the Western Hemisphere."

While its priority may be argued, the breakwater was nonetheless a major contri-
bution to the progress of American engineering, executed by a major figure in engineer-
ing history, and conceived on a scale seldom considered before in America.

Cape Henlopen was a dangerous anchorage for sailing ships from the time of
earliest settlement. Henry Hudson, in his voyage of discovery, chose not to sail
up Delaware Bay because of the shoals. Hens and Chickens Shoal, on the ocean side
of the Cape, was one of the first American sites to be marked by a lighthouse. The
harbor formed by Cape Henlopen was inadequate protection against storms. Ships that
anchored in the lee of the Cape were often driven onto the beach or up the Bay to
the shallow bars. The need for an artificial harbor became clear, as deeper-draft
shipping increased early in the nineteenth century.

Congress appropriated funds for an initial study in 1822, To carry out the re-
connaissance, a board of three officers was appointed, including the foremost engineers
of the day. General Simon Bernard, lately a brigadier-general in the French army,
had been employed at the recommendation of Lafayette to be chief engineer of the U.S.
Army. Major J. G. Totten, his assistant, had been the first professor of mathematics
at West Point. Commodore William Bainbridge, the naval member, was one of the senior
commanders in the Navy, and an exgert on coastal fortification. Their report, recom-
mending a large and permanent RArOOT,yesulted in a construction appropriation in 1828.
To build the breakwater, another commission was formed, consisting of General Bernard;
Commodore John Rodgers, the ranking captain in the Navy; and William Strickland, a
Philadelphia architect who had recently resigned as chief engineer of the eastern
division of the Pennsylvania mixed transportation system. Strickland would survive
the other commissioners, finally completing the project in 1841.

Even before the breakwater was completed, it saved many ships from disaster.
During the years that followed, more and larger ships crowded behind the breakwater,
taxing its anchorage space to the limit. The 1877 storm, in which more than 200
vessels took shelter there, proved that the old breakwater was becoming obsoléte.
Several large craft, unable to get into the harbor, were lost in the storm. In 1883,
Congress responded to the need by providing for a new structure to close the gap
between Bernard and Strickland's two breakwaters. Work progressed slowly on the
connection, which was not finished until 1897.
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Another disastrous storm in 1889 and increases in the drafts of oceangoing
ships accented the need for a larger and deeper harbor. Finally in 1896, Congress
authorized the new "National Harbor of Refuge" farther offshore.

Both breakwaters have served as models for similar structures elsewhere. The
random stone breakwaters at San Pedro, California and Sandy Bay, Massachusetts are
among the projects that followed the Delaware examples.

The last major structure to be built in the breakwater complex was the series
of ten stone icebreakers to the north of the outer breakwater. They were added to
the project in 1900, to protect ships in the harbor from floes coming down the bay.
The United States Army Corps of Engineers administers the breakwater complex today.



